
DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD MEETING 
THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2020 

9:00 A.M. 
OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 

ONE VISITORS CENTER CIRCLE 
MANTEO, NC 27954 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

I. Call to Order   
 
II. Pledge of Allegiance & Moment of Silence  
 
III. Approval of Agenda 
 
IV. Approval of Minutes from the August 20, 2020 Meeting 
 
V. Public Comments 
 
VI. Budget & Finance Report-Budget & Finance Committee Chair 
 
VII. Grants & Local Public Relations-Grants & LPR Chair 

1. Event Grant Award Recommendations 
2. Revised Event Grant Application and Contract Recommendations 

 
VIII. Outer Banks Visitors Bureau Updates 
 
IX. Old Business 
 
X. New Business 
 
XI. Board Member Comments 
     
XII. Set Date, Time, and Place of Next Meeting 

 
XIII. Adjournment 
 
 
  
    



	

August 20, 2020 Dare County Tourism Board  1 

RECORD OF MINUTES 
DARE COUNTY TOURISM BOARD 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 20, 2020 
9:00 A.M. 

OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES 
MANTEO, NC 27954 

 
 

ATTENDING:   
In-Person: Myra Ladd-Bone, Chair; Leo Holland, and Bobby Owens. 
 
Via GoToMeeting: Jeff Pruitt, Vice-Chair; Pat Weston, Treasurer; Ervin Bateman, Assistant Treasurer; 
Webb Fuller, Secretary; Doug Brindley, Chuck Burdick, Tim Cafferty, Jamie Chisholm, Ivy Ingram, 
Karen Loopman-Davis, and Jay Wheless, Legal Counsel.  
 
STAFF:  
Lee Nettles, Executive Director (in person) 
Diane Bognich, Director of Administration (GoToMeeting) 
Lorrie Love, Tourism Sales and Events Manager (in person) 
Aaron Tuell, Public Relations Manager (GoToMeeting) 
Amy Wood, Clerk to the Board/Administrative Specialist (GoToMeeting) 
 
OTHERS ATTENDING: 
 
Via GoToMeeting: Dave Hallac, Superintendent, Outer Banks Group, National Park Service; and Dan 
Lewis, Outer Banks Restaurant Association.  
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.  The Board then recited the pledge of allegiance, followed 
by a moment of silence. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mr. Owens moved to approve the agenda. Second by Mr. Holland. There 
was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously.  
 

Yes: Ervin Bateman, Doug Brindley, Chuck Burdick, Tim Cafferty, Jaime Chisholm, Webb 
Fuller, Leo Holland, Ivy Ingram, Myra Ladd-Bone, Karen Loopman-Davis, Bobby Owens, Jeff 
Pruitt, and Pat Weston.  

 
No: None.  The motion passed unanimously (13-0).  

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Mr. Owens moved to approve the meeting minutes from June 18, 2020 
meeting.   Second by Mr. Holland. There was no discussion and the motion passed unanimously.  
 

Yes: Ervin Bateman, Doug Brindley, Chuck Burdick, Tim Cafferty, Jaime Chisholm, Webb 
Fuller, Leo Holland, Ivy Ingram, Myra Ladd-Bone, Karen Loopman-Davis, Bobby Owens, Jeff 
Pruitt, and Pat Weston.  

 
No: None.   The motion passed unanimously (13-0). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



	

August 20, 2020 Dare County Tourism Board  2 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: Superintendent Hallac reviewed visitations and ongoing projects in the national 
parks in the Outer Banks Group. Dan Lewis noted how COVID 19 restrictions have impacted the 
restaurants and how the meals and occupancy taxes collected could be used to help them.  
There were no other public comments made or submitted in writing.  
 
BUDGET AND FINANCE REPORT:  Ms. Weston reviewed the meals and occupancy receipts 
received.  Receipts for fiscal year 2020-2021 are down 3.18% compared to 2019-2020 actual receipts. 
 
OUTER BANKS VISITORS BUREAU UPDATES: Lee Nettles updated the Board on: 

• Work that has been done and work still to be done to mitigate the impact COVID 19 has had on 
the local economy 

• Fall advertising campaign and launch of the redesigned outerbanks.org 
• Co-op advertising opportunities in the travel insert, which will take the place of the travel guide 

this year 
• Events that have been postponed or rescheduled. Currently, the Food Truck Showdown is 

scheduled for November 22, 2020 and the Custom Rod Auto Show is looking at a spring 2021 
date.  

• Three Year Strategic Goals. Staff is working on these and will take to the Steering Committee for 
review before bringing them to the full Board. 

 
OLD BUSINESS: Lee Nettles noted that an agreement regarding up to $25,000 for traffic control at the 
intersection of HWY 158 and 12N was made with the Town of Kitty Hawk. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: There was no new business before the Board.  
 
BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS: Mr. Holland noted his work with area groups that are helping with 
recovery efforts in Bertie County after a tornado.  
 
SET DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF NEXT MEETING:  The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, 
September 17, 2020 at 9:00 a.m. in Curtis Creech Memorial Boardroom, Outer Banks Visitors Bureau 
Administrative Office, Manteo, NC  
 
The Chair asked if there was any further business before the Board. Hearing none, the Chair adjourned 
the meeting at 9:44 a.m. 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________ 
Secretary, Dare County Tourism Board 



1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21





















































THE OUTER BANKS PROJECT 
 
PUBLIC RELATIONS REPORT: Aug 2020 
 
PRESS RELEASES  
 
Press Release: Dare County Ranks #5 Among North Carolina’s 100 Counties For Tourism  
https://conta.cc/3gJBezy 
 
EARNED MEDIA – FULFILLMENT 
 
Saturday Evening Post | Sep 2020 “The Best Road Trips In Every State” Aaron worked with writer 
Stephanie Citron to develop the Outer Banks portion of her roundup of national driving favorites. 
Below is a link to the piece about great road trips in every state, which of course includes North 
Carolina. It also ran in the September October print edition of the Saturday Evening Post. 
https://bit.ly/3m90WS1 
 
Our State | Sep 2020 “A Line In The Sand” Digital Editor Jeremy Markovich shares stories of NC 12 
and its keepers in this issue dedicated to stories from the open roads of North Carolina. “It’s an 
otherworldly stretch of road, like driving along the canyon valley of a tan moon.” 
https://bit.ly/2Fo8yzi  
 
HGTV | Sep 2020 “Photo Inspiration: Outer Banks North Carolina Ideas” The OBVB worked with 
contributing freelance writer Erin Gifford to place Pinterest content on HGTV.com 
https://bit.ly/2Zo5zOr 
 
INFLUENCER CONTENT – FULFILLMENT 
 
The Gemini Allure | Aug 2020 We worked with influencer Neha Rao, a Charlotte, NC newcomer for 
her first Outer Banks trip. She’s a fashion/lifestyle forward IG content creator w/ 43.6K followers 
@TheGeminiAllure and a photo-documented travel journal at www.thegeminiallure.com She 
describes her first impressions and praises for Manteo and Hatteras Island as a recommended 
place to begin your OBX vacation coming from Charlotte, NC. https://bit.ly/3k5cjIW 
  
yTravelBlog.com | Aug 2020  “16 Fun Things To Do In Outer Banks” We’ve worked with Raleigh 
market blogging family Caz and Christina Makepeace @ytravelblog for an article featuring headline 
experiences that adventurous families must try at the OBX! https://bit.ly/2ZrMvi7 
 
ThisIsRaleigh.com | Aug 2020  “20+ Essential Things To Do In OBX” The Makepeace’s describe their 
favorites for North Carolina capital families to try at the Outer Banks. https://bit.ly/3hic6Af 
 
WellTraveledChild.com | Aug 2020  “The Outer Banks, NC – An Ideal Family Vacation” We’ve 
teamed up with Raleigh, NC family blogger Dominique Parrish and her family on a story that will 
show the appeal of an Outer Banks trip for Triangle market families this summer and fall on her 
blog. Check out some of her stops along the OBX at @WellTraveledChild. https://bit.ly/3k2XhDp 
 
Carl Hedinger | Aug 2020 We’re collaborating with Durham, NC based influencer Carl Hedinger and 
his wife Christina @TravThroughLife for a family and kid-friendly guide of activities this summer 
and fall on the Outer Banks. https://bit.ly/3k62avr 
 
 







O P E N 
 R O A D

A North Carolina 
tradition: Cruising 
NC Highway 12, top 
down, sun shining 
above, and endless 
adventure ahead.

Time 
traveling 

along our 
back roads 

and lost 
highways

STARTS  
ON  

P.112

NC OR BUST
HITCHHIKING MEMORIES

FROM PHILIP GERARD
P.114

HANGING ROCK
END-OF-SUMMER TREK

WITH ENDLESS VIEWS
P.120

SHIFTING SANDS
THE KEEPERS OF HIGHWAY 12

P.148

& TWEETSIE RAILROAD

PLUS!

P.90

LAND of

OZ

S TO R I E S
from the

SEPTEMBER 2020 $5.99



A sandy drive down 
NC Highway 12 on 
Pea Island reveals that 
on this particular stretch 
of the Outer Banks, 
despite the state’s best 
efforts, nature rules.

A  LI N E  I N TH E  SA N D

Shifting sands, tides, and 
tempests have shaped the 
Outer Banks for centuries. 
Now, those forces pose a 
constant threat to the islands’ 
lifeline — and a complicated 
challenge for the keepers  
of Highway 12.
written by JEREMY MARKOVICH 
photography by CHRIS HANNANT

148    O U R  S T A T E  |  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 2 0 O U R S TAT E . C O M     149



J E F F  R Y D E R

“T HE SAND WANTS TO MIGRATE 
into the road,” says Jerry Jennings 
from the back of the pickup truck. 
It’s a bit of an understatement. 

Jennings, who retired in June, is the former divi-
sion engineer who covered the Outer Banks for the 
North Carolina Department of Transportation. 
The second the truck cluh-clunks across the last 
expansion joint on the Marc Basnight Bridge, 
the sand is there, creeping, millions of grains at a 
time, toward the white line along the shoulder of 
NC Highway 12. It moves, on breezy days, an inch 
or so at a time, and it’s not long before the sand is 
across the white line. A 45-mile-per-hour speed 
limit makes it dance across the asphalt every time 
a car or semitruck rolls past. At night, the head-
lights illuminate a tan haze, each grain a prism that 
reflects and scatters the light.

Jeff Ryder is driving the pickup, and he does not 
share this romantic view of the sand. He’s the guy in 
charge of the guys who push all of it back into place, 
back up onto the towering dunes that run along the 
ocean side of Highway 12. Where? Between Avon 
and Buxton. Between Buxton and Hatteras. On 
Ocracoke. And here on Pea Island, from the end of 
the Basnight Bridge down to Rodanthe. Especially 
here. Ryder is in charge of NCDOT’s Dare County 
maintenance yards. He wears wraparound sun-
glasses and a Penn State hat. He moved down from 
the North in 2011. “I’d rather have sand than snow,” 
he says. He looks at his phone. “We have so many 
apps.” Tourists, he says, look at the temperature 

Transportation 
Supervisor Jeff Ryder 
(opposite) battles the 
wind, waves, and sand on 
Highway 12, especially 
on Pea Island, south of 
the Marc Basnight Bridge 
spanning Oregon Inlet.

O U R S TAT E . C O M     151150    O U R  S T A T E  |  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 2 0150    O U R  S T A T E  |  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 2 0



first, but Ryder looks at the wind and the tides. If 
the wind’s blowing from the northeast, it’ll push 
the sand back into the road. If it’s coming from 
the southwest, it’ll whip the water out of Pamlico 
Sound and over the pavement. “We can’t win either 
way the wind’s blowing,” he says.

IF YOU KNOW ANYTHING ABOUT THE OUTER BANKS, 
you probably have a sense of the problem here: The 
sand moves. The road doesn’t. Before the 1950s, 
if you wanted to drive on the barrier islands, you 
mostly drove on the sand. But during that decade, 
most of what we now know as Highway 12 was 
paved, culminating with the opening of the Herbert 
C. Bonner Bridge over Oregon Inlet in 1963. 

This realization of a permanent road dovetailed 

perfectly with the idea of a permanent island — a 
notion that had been born decades before: In the 
1930s, there was a belief that the Outer Banks had 
once been covered in trees and grasses, shrubs and 
vines. Those plants, it was thought, had held the 
shifting sands of the barrier islands firmly in place, 
and so the National Park Service embarked on a 
huge project to build dunes along the islands to do 
what they thought nature had once done itself. Of 
course, nature hadn’t done that; the islands had 
always moved and shifted as wind and waves blew 
sand from the ocean toward the sound. But by the 
time officials realized that, the artificial dunes had 
already been in place for decades, and they now 
had Highway 12 to protect. To save the road, the 
state had to freeze the island in time.

The dunes now  
had Highway 12  

to protect. To save 
the road, the state 
had to freeze the  

island in time.

152    O U R  S T A T E  |  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 2 0



Keeping things exactly as they are takes a lot of 
time and money, and storms come along and com-
plicate things. It used to be that only hurricanes 
could cause dunes to break, pavement to buckle, 
and water to pool, but now smaller storms, too, 
are poking holes in the islands and creating new 
inlets. Last October, a nor’easter came through. It 
was, Jennings says from the back seat, “a storm that 
nobody had heard of,” and still it wiped out dunes 
and flooded the road north of Rodanthe. A week 
later, just when Ryder and his crew had reopened 
the road and pushed the sand back, another storm 
messed it all up again. “The island wants to change,” 
Ryder says, “but we have the road.”

REBUILDING HIGHWAY 12 IS, AND ALWAYS HAS BEEN, 
the solution to a budgetary math problem. It takes 
money to pay men and women to, on a daily basis, 
jump on top of heavy equipment like bulldozers 
and front-end loaders and move the sand back into 
place. It takes even more money to rebuild the road 
after a storm, when the tides and winds and surges 
shatter the asphalt.

It takes a ton of money to build bridges. In 2011, 
when Hurricane Irene cut a new inlet (named, you 
guessed it, New Inlet) north of Rodanthe, the state 

built a new bridge over the water. (“We’ll do what 
we always do,” Dare County Manager Bobby Outten 
said of the breach in the road. “We’ll figure out how 
to fix it.”) But then the inlet filled back in, so the 
bridge now runs across … sand. On most days, at 
least. A few miles south, construction crews are 
building a nearly two-and-a-half-mile-long bridge 
out into the sound to bypass an often-flooded area 
known as the S-Curves. The “Jug Handle,” as the 

From the Basnight 
Bridge, head south 
on Highway 12 
until you reach 
New Inlet Bridge 
(below). Some 
people even call it 
New New Inlet.

154    O U R  S T A T E  |  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 2 0



new bridge is called, is expected to cost $145 million. 
But for all of the money spent, the amount of 

money brought in from tourists and taxes has been 
much higher, and as long as that remains true, the 
math will work out for the state and the folks who 
live here. The bulldozers and front-end loaders will 
remain stationed at the north end of Pea Island, 
waiting for the next storm that breaks the dunes 
and floods the pavement.

When those storms hit, Ryder says, all you can 
do is react. You can do a little preventative sand 

moving, he says, pointing out 
spots where his crews have 
pushed the dunes away from 
Highway 12 and toward the 
ocean. But they can only push 
so far, since the state’s right-of-
way only extends so far from 
the road. In effect, there’s a 
tiny space for a dune to exist, 
smooshed between federal 

land and the pavement. The result, on one part of 
Pea Island, is an otherworldly stretch of road, like 
driving along the canyon valley of a tan moon.

It’s weird being out here sometimes, Ryder 
says. Sometimes at night, when the sand is really 
blowing and the water’s up, “you don’t even know 
if you’re on the road,” he says. When the dunes are 
down, you can see from the asphalt to the ocean, 
and it looks like the ocean is above the pavement. 
“Sometimes, it is,” Jennings says with a chuckle.

AT THE NORTH END OF RODANTHE, THE PICKUP TRUCK 
passes the sign that welcomes visitors to Mirlo 
Beach. (“Dare to dream the impossible dream,” it 
reads.) The heavy equipment is idle today. It’d be 
better to come out and watch everybody hustling 
after a storm, Ryder says. That’s when the action 
happens. But today, the skies are blue and the wind 
is mild, so the truck pulls into a gas station and 
turns around, splashing through puddles of stand-
ing water in the gravel parking lot. 

Back up north of New Inlet, Jennings points 
toward the sound: A quarter-mile away, small black 
lines stick up out of the sparkling water and brown 
marsh. Those are the remnants of an old bridge, 
he says. Back in 1932 and ’33, storms cut several 
new inlets through the island here, and the state 
decided to build three wooden trestles to allow cars 
to veer off the beach and cross the deep water. The 
bridges opened in the mid-1930s, but within a few 
years, the inlets had already started to close, and 
except for another overwash during World War II, 
the road was no longer useful. The island, and its 
beach, was once again continuous. So in 1952, not 
even two decades later, the bridges were left to the 
brackish water and salty air. The best thing, it was 
decided, was to let nature take its course. 

Jeremy Markovich is the digital manager 
at Our State, and host of the magazine’s 
Away Message podcast.

It’s an otherworldly 
stretch of road,  

like driving along 
the canyon valley  

of a tan moon.

At the north end of Pea Island, 
the dunes have to fit within the 
road’s right-of-way, which means 
that heavy equipment has to pile 
the sand high in a narrow area 
between beach and pavement.

156    O U R  S T A T E  |  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 2 0




	September 17, 2020 Agenda.pdf
	August 20. 2020 minutes
	Monthly Financial Report
	Bud1.pdf
	Bud2
	Budget 3

	grants
	endofmonth
	Tourism Sales
	Sep 2020 Board Packet PR 
	Sep 2020 Board Packet
	SaturdayEveningPost_9_20_1
	SaturdayEveningPost_9_20_2
	Highway 12
	HGTV_OBVB_photo_vacation_rentals




